
           

Zoning Board of Adjustments Agenda
City Hall Council Chambers
211 E. Pleasant Run Road
DeSoto, Texas 75115

Chairperson Brandon Lewis
Vice Chairperson LaShonda Burnette
Board Member Brandee Jones
Board Member Lisa Speaks
Board Member Deborah North
Board Member Hope Stevens
Board Member Ivan Jacobs
Board Member Tamara Streeter

DATE:  Tuesday, January 18, 2024

WORK SESSION:   6:00pm Council Chambers

REGULAR SESSION:   7:00pm Council Chambers

As authorized by Section 551.071(2) of the Texas Government Code, this meeting may be convened into
closed Executive Session for the purpose of seeking confidential legal advice from the City Attorney on
any agenda item listed herein.

 

           

A. WORK SESSION AGENDA:   

 

1. Call to Order   

 

2. Discuss all agenda items.   

 

B. REGULAR SESSION - CALL TO ORDER   

 

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   

 

D. CONSENT AGENDA
Any item may be withdrawn from the consent agenda and acted on separately.
Approval of the Consent Agenda authorizes the approval of each item in
accordance with Staff Recommendations.

  

 

1. Approval of Minutes   

 

a. Consider approval of minutes for Zoning Board of Adjustments regular meeting of
June28, 2023.

 

E. PUBLIC HEARING   

 

1. Conduct Public Hearing and consider applicant's request for variance from Section 38



1. Conduct Public Hearing and consider applicant's request for variance from Section 38
"Off-Street Parking and Loading Requirements", Subsection 38.3C "Nonresidential
and MF Districts - Special Off-Street Parking Provisions" of the City's Comprehensive
Zoning Ordinance in order to use gravel or flex base material instead of reinforced
Portland Cement Concrete for a new outdoor storage equipment area at the recently
reconstructed Oncor Lancaster Distribution Center located at 1220 E. Pleasant Run
Road, DeSoto, Texas.  The property owner is Texas Utilities Electric Company and
the applicant is Oncor Electric Delivery.  (ZBA Case No. B23-04)

 

2. Conduct Public Hearing and consider applicant's request for variance from Section 38
"Off-Street Parking and Loading Requirements", Subsection 36.6 "Parking
Requirements Based On Use", Subsection 34 "Health Club, Health Spa or Exercise
Club" of the City's Zoning Ordinance in order for the new occupant (EOS Fitness) to
utilize the existing number of parking spaces as approved for the previous tenant
(Albertsons Grocery Store) at the existing 56,014 square foot building located at 1300
W. Belt Line Road, DeSoto, Texas.  This 4.976-acre tract of land is legally described
as being Crystal Creek Ridge Replat, Block H, Lot 1A.  The applicant and property
owner is BBD DeSoto, LLC.  

 

F. ADJOURNMENT   

 

I, the undersigned authority, do hereby certify that this Notice was posted online on the City's
website at www.desototexas.gov and on the bulletin boards located at City Hall located at 211 E.
Pleasant Run Road, DeSoto, Texas 75115.  This said Notice was posted on the following date
and time: _____ 01.12.2024 / 5:00pm____, and remained so posted at least two (2) hours after
said meeting was convened.  

____________________________________
Trent Carroll
Planning Technician

 
DeSoto Planning and Zoning Commission Meetings are broadcast live in their entirety on
DeSoto's City Website www.desototexas.gov Government Access Channel 16 available to
Spectrum subscribers and Channel 99 available to AT&T U-verses subscribers on the second
and fourth Tuesday of each month at 7:00 p.m.  A taped broadcast is aired each day on Channel
16 and Channel 99 at 10:00 a.m., 2:00 p.m., 7:00 p.m., and 11:00 p.m. following the live
broadcast.  Questions regarding the broadcast schedules or internet viewing should be directed
to Kathy Jones, Community Relations Manager, at 972-230-9648. These taped broadcasts are
also available to view on the City's website ( www.desototexas.gov ) at your convenience. 

 

http://www.desototexas.gov
http://www.desototexas.gov


   
Zoning Board of Adjustments D. a.        
Meeting Date: 01/18/2024  
Submitted For: Trent Carroll, Planning Technician 

Phone: 972.230.9622 
Contact: Trent Carroll, Planning Technician

Phone: 972.230.9622 

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider approval of minutes for Zoning Board of Adjustments regular meeting of June28, 2023.

Attachments
06.28.23 ZBOA Minutes 



ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENTS BOARD
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING

TOWN CENTER - COUNCIL CHAMBERS
Tuesday, June 22, 2023

 
Present: Vice Chairperson LaShonda Burnette   
  Board Member Debrah North   
  Board Member Lisa Speaks   
  Board Member Carol Holmes   

Staff Present: Bester Munyaradzi, Planning Manager
Juanara Jordan-Williams, Planner

               
A. WORK SESSION AGENDA:
 
  Present members include: LaShonda Burnette, Debrah North, Lisa Speaks and

Carol Holmes.
Work session began at 6:05pm.

 
1. Oath of Office: Carol Holmes

 
  Board Member Carol Holmes was sworn into office.
 

2. Discuss all agenda items.
 
  Planning Manager led discussion on ZBOA Case B23-03.

 
Work Session ended at 6:37pm.
 

 
B. REGULAR SESSION - CALL TO ORDER
 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE



C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
 
  The Pledge was led by Board Member Debrah North.
 
D. CONSENT AGENDA

Any item may be withdrawn from the consent agenda and acted on separately.
Approval of the Consent Agenda authorizes the approval of each item in
accordance with Staff Recommendations.

 
1. Approval of Minutes

 
a. 2.23.23 ZBOA Meeting Minutes   

 
  Motion by Vice Chairperson LaShonda Burnette, with second by Board

Member Debrah North to approve meeting minutes for Thursday, Feb 23,
2023.
  

  AYE: Vice Chairperson LaShonda Burnette 
  Board Member Debrah North 
  Board Member Lisa Speaks 
  Board Member Carol Holmes 

 
E. PUBLIC HEARING
 

1. Conduct a public hearing and consider variance requests from Section 29.4.B.4
Minimum Rear Yard (to allow a canopy to encroach the required 25 feet rear yard
setback) and Section 39.7.H. (to allow a 5 feet landscape setback along the east
property line instead of the required 10 feet landscape setback) of the City of
DeSoto's Zoning Ordinance. The applicant is Priya Archaya from Wier &
Associates and the owner is SECBW Partners, LLC. ( Case #B23-02).

  

 
  Planning Manager Bester Munyaradzi gave staff report with a recommendation

of approval.
 
Vice Chairperson LaShonda Burnette opens the Public Hearing at 7:24 pm.
 
Priya Acharya identified herself as the representative for Wier & associates Inc.
and made herself available for any questions the board may have.
 
The public Hearing closed at 7:26pm

 
F. ADJOURNMENT
 



  Motion by Board Member Debrah North, with second by Board Member Lisa
Speaks to adjourn the Zoning Board of Adjustment meeting on Thursday, June
22, 2023. 

  AYE: Vice Chairperson LaShonda Burnette 
  Board Member Debrah North 
  Board Member Lisa Speaks 
  Board Member Carol Holmes 

 
 

  

________________________________________
 
LaShonda Burnette
Vice Chairperson Zoning Board of Adjustments

___________________________

Juanara Jordan-Williams
Planning Technician

 

 __________________________________________
Date



   
Zoning Board of Adjustments E. 1.        
Meeting Date: 01/18/2024  
Submitted For: Charles Brewer, Development Services Director 
Phone: (469) 503-7565

COUNCIL ACTION
AGENDA ITEM:
Conduct Public Hearing and consider applicant's request for variance from Section 38
"Off-Street Parking and Loading Requirements", Subsection 38.3C "Nonresidential and MF
Districts - Special Off-Street Parking Provisions" of the City's Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance
in order to use gravel or flex base material instead of reinforced Portland Cement Concrete for a
new outdoor storage equipment area at the recently reconstructed Oncor Lancaster Distribution
Center located at 1220 E. Pleasant Run Road, DeSoto, Texas.  The property owner is Texas
Utilities Electric Company and the applicant is Oncor Electric Delivery.  (ZBA Case No. B23-04)

BACKGROUND:
In association with Oncor proposing to demolish their existing 10,114 square foot service center
building and replacing it with a new 15,100 square foot building (within their 17.83-acre tract of
land located at 1220 E. Pleasant Run Road), a public hearing was conducted before the City
Council on November 2, 2021 in order to consider Oncor's request to obtain a Specific Use
Permit (SUP) as required by the City of DeSoto's Zoning Ordinance.  This site was initially
developed in 1969 with an office building, warehouse and automotive uses.  With Oncor
proposing to demolish the existing buildings within this 17.83-acre tract of land, the City's
Zoning Ordinance required Oncor to obtain an SUP in order to re-establish an electric
substation at this location.  The Site Plan submitted to the City Council for consideration during
the public hearing identified the reconstruction work within this 17.83-acre tract of land would
not only include the construction of a new 15,100 square foot Service Center building but also
the construction of 2 covered parking/storage areas, a fenced storage yard area and a future
yard expansion area.  Following the public hearing, a motion unanimously prevailed (by a vote
of 6-0) to approve Oncor's SUP request.

Prior to completing the reconstruction of their new service center in 2023, Oncor began the
process of submitting plans to the City's Development Services/Engineering Division in
association with their plans to construct the future yard expansion area (i.e. proposed storage
yard area as shown within their approved SUP Site Plan).  Oncor's plan for the expanded
storage yard area was that the surface of this storage yard area was to be gravel or flex base. 
No buildings were to be constructed within this storage yard area.  The area would be fenced,
lighted and secured.  The proposed storage yard would not be visible from the public roads and
would be partially surrounded by the existing trees within that section of their property.  Oncor
needs this additional space in order to store electrical poles and equipment onsite in order to
better serve the city of DeSoto and surrounding communities.  

On September 25, 2023 a virtual meeting was conducted between representatives of Oncor and
the City's Development Services Department (DSD) in order to discuss the status of DSD
completing its review of Oncor's construction plans for their Service Center Storage Yard
Expansion Project at 1220 E. Pleasant Run Road.  During the virtual meeting, DSD's Director



Brewer questioned the representatives of Oncor whether they were aware that: 1) the City's
Zoning Ordinance establishes the requirement for all off-street parking, loading and storage
areas to be paved with reinforced concrete pavement; and 2) the City's Floodplain Management
Regulations establishes the requirement for new development within a Special Flood Hazard
Area (SFHA) to meet the "2-foot Free-Board" requirement.   

In response to Director Brewer's question about being aware of the City's Zoning Ordinance
requiring off-street parking, loading and storage areas to be paved with reinforced concrete
pavement, the representatives from Oncor responded that they were not aware....and they had
not been informed of this City requirement since submitting their plans to the City several
months prior.

In order to utilize gravel or flex base material as the paving surface for Oncor's proposed
Service Center storage yard expansion area instead of with reinforced concrete pavement
(which is a Zoning requirement), Oncor has submitted an Application For Appeal to Zoning
Board of Adjustment (ZBOA) to staff requesting to obtain a variance from Section 38 "Off-Street
Parking and Loading Requirements", Subsection 38.3 "Nonresidential and MF Districts -
Special Off-Street Parking Provisions", Subsection C.   

Public Hearing notices were mailed to all property owners within 200 feet of Oncor's property
and a notice of public hearing was published in the December 31, 2023 edition of the City's
paper of general circulation (FOCUS Daily News).

FINDINGS:
Section 38.3(C) of the City's Zoning Ordinance states:
All required off-street parking, maneuvering, loading and storage areas shall be paved in
accordance with the parking lot requirements in the City's Code of Ordinances. Parking spaces
shall be permanently and clearly identified by stripes, buttons, tiles, curbs, farriers, or other
approved methods. Non-permanent type marking, such as paint, shall be regularly maintained
to ensure continuous clear identification of the space.

Section 3.903 "Parking Lots", Subsection E of the City's Code of Ordinances states:
Pavement Surface.  The parking lot surface shall be of reinforced Portland Cement Concrete in
accordance with the City of DeSoto Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction.

FINANCIAL IMPACT:
NA

RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval of the applicant's request for variance as presented.

MANAGEMENT REVIEW

Attachments
Applicant's Application and Written Narrative 



DCAD Map 
FEMA FIRMette Map 
Oncor Reconstruction Site Plan - Approved by SUP 
Oncor Storage Yard Expansion Construction Plan Cover Sheet 
Oncor Storage Yard Expansion Demolition Plan Sheet C2.0 
Oncor Storage Yard Expansion Paving Plan Sheet C3.0 
Oncor Storage Yard Expansion Site Plan Sheet C3.1 
Zoning Ordinance - Section 38 
Code of Ordinances - Section 3.903 Parking Lots 

















































   
Zoning Board of Adjustments E. 2.        
Meeting Date: 01/18/2024  
Phone: (469) 503-7565

COUNCIL ACTION
AGENDA ITEM:
Conduct Public Hearing and consider applicant's request for variance from Section 38
"Off-Street Parking and Loading Requirements", Subsection 36.6 "Parking Requirements Based
On Use", Subsection 34 "Health Club, Health Spa or Exercise Club" of the City's Zoning
Ordinance in order for the new occupant (EOS Fitness) to utilize the existing number of parking
spaces as approved for the previous tenant (Albertsons Grocery Store) at the existing 56,014
square foot building located at 1300 W. Belt Line Road, DeSoto, Texas.  This 4.976-acre tract
of land is legally described as being Crystal Creek Ridge Replat, Block H, Lot 1A.  The applicant
and property owner is BBD DeSoto, LLC.  

BACKGROUND:
In October 2021, Kyle Cowan of NAI Wheelhouse (representing BBD DeSoto, LLC) began
communications with the City's ex-Planning and Zoning staff in connection with his client
preparing to close on the property at 1300 W. Beltline Road (in November 2021).  In an email to
the City's ex-Planner dated October 27, 2021, Mr. Cowan states that while his client's
redevelopment plans for this property were not finalized at that time: 1) his client was likely to
lease the existing building (previously occupied by Albertsons) within this property to EOS
Fitness; 2) he believed that the use (i.e. Health Club, Health Spa or Exercise Club) was
permitted in the Planned Development (PD) zoning at this location; and 3) he wanted to confirm
that staff didn't foresee any issues related to the use being permitted or with parking.

In the initial response email from the City's ex-Planner to Mr. Cowan dated October 27, 2021,
the City's ex-Planner: 1) identified that DCAD records showed the square footage for the
existing building at 1300 W. Beltline Road as being 55,000 square feet; 2) inquired as to what
his client's proposed square footage within the existing building would be; and 3) stated that if
the proposed square footage with all amenities would be around 25,000 to 30,000 square
feet...then the current on-site parking would be OK.

In Mr. Cowan's response email to the City's ex-Planner dated October 27, 2021, Mr. Cowan
informed the City's ex-Planner that his client's proposed tenant (EOS Fitness) would occupy the
entire 55,000 square feet of the existing building.

Following some additional emails between the City's ex-Planner and Mr. Cowan dated October
27, 2021, the City's ex-Planning and Zoning Manager sent Mr. Cowan an email dated October
29, 2021 stating that in regard to a health club at that location: 1) the City's parking
requirements would be 1 space per 150 square foot for the floor area (the gross floor area of the
use); 2) the existing Certificate of Occupancy for the space (for Albertsons) shows the number of
parking spaces as being 292; 3) 292 parking spaces would allow for a total "floor area" of
44,000 square feet; and 4) she believed that there might be the possibility of adding a few more
spaces to the site.   



In Mr. Cowan's follow up email to the City's ex-Planning and Zoning Manager dated October 29,
2021, Mr. Cowan wrote: For further clarity, "floor area" will only be the square footage dedicated
to exercise/fitness, correct.....and so this would exclude locker rooms/bathrooms, kids club,
offices, massage, and any other space not directly dedicated to exercise?

In the ex-Planning and Zoning Manager's response email to Mr. Cowan dated October 29,
2021, the City's ex-Planning and Zoning Manager responded.......Yes, correct.

On July 22, 2022, the City's Building Inspection and Permitting Office issued a Commercial
Remodel permit in order for renovation work to be performed within the existing building.

On November 16, 2023, the City's Building Inspection and Permitting Office issued a
Conditional Certificate of Occupancy permit to EOS Fitness which officially allowed access and
use within the building except within the outside workout and pool areas.

In December 2022, Mr. Cowan contacted the City's Planning and Zoning Division in order to
obtain a Zoning Compliance letter.  During the telephone conversation between Mr. Cowan and
the City's new Planning and Zoning Manager, Mr. Cowan was informed that with the City's
Zoning Ordinance establishing the requirement that for a "Health Club, Health Spa or Exercise
Club", the required number of parking spaces would be one (1) space per one hundred fifty
(150) square feet of floor area.....which for the building sized at 56,014 square feet would be
373 parking spaces.

With the available number of parking spaces within the existing parking lot at 1300 W. Beltline
Road being 257, property owner BBD DeSoto, LLC officially submitted an Application For
Appeal To Zoning Board Of Adjustment (ZBOA) in order to request a variance from Section 38"
Off-Street Parking and Loading Requirements", Subsection 36.6 "Parking Requirements Based
on Use", Subsection 34 "Health Club, Health Spa or Exercise Club" of the City's Zoning
Ordinance in order for the new occupant (EOS Fitness) to utilize the existing number of parking
spaces (i.e. 257) as approved for the previous tenant (Albertsons Grocery Store) at 1300 W.
Beltline Road.    

     

FINDINGS:
Section 38.6(34) "Health Club, Health Spa or Exercise Club" of the City's Zoning Ordinance
establishes the parking requirement for this use as being "One (1) space per one hundred fifty
(150) square feet of floor area.

Section A-3 Definitions of the City's Zoning Ordinance establishes the definition of Floor Area as
being...."the total gross square feet of floor space within the outside dimensions of a building
including each floor level, but excluding carports, residential garages and breezeways".

With all areas within the existing parking lot having been striped and painted for parking
spaces.....and with this total number of parking spaces being 257....staff supports the
applicant's request for variance.

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:



NA

RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends that the Zoning Board of Adjustment conduct a public hearing and approve
the applicant's request for variance in order for the new occupant (EOS Fitness) to utilize the
existing number of parking spaces (i.e. 257) as approved for the previous tenant (Albertsons
Grocery Store) at the existing 56,014 square foot building located at 1300 W. Beltline Road
(Case No. B-23-05).

MANAGEMENT REVIEW

Attachments
DCAD Map 1 
DCAD Map 2 
Emails between Mr. Cowan and ex-Planning staff 
Zoning Ordinance - Section 38.6 (34) 
Zoning Ordinance - Appendix A-3 Definitions (Floor Area) 
Applicant's Application 
Applicant's Letter of Intent 
Surveyor's Certified Land Title Survey Map 
Parking Lot Layout Map and Site Data Summary Table 
Photo 1 
Photo 2 
Photo 3 
Photo 4 
Photo 5 
Photo 6 
Photo 7 
Photo 8 
Photo 9 
Photo 10 
Photo 11 
Photo 12 
Photo 13 
Photo 14 
Photo 15 
Photo 16 
Photo 17 
Photo 18 
Photo 19 



Photo 20 
Photo 21 
Photo 22 
Photo 23 
Photo 24 
Applicant's PowerPoint Presentation 



DCAD, NCTCOG, MAPSCO, USGS,

-
DCAD, NCTCOG, USGS, Esri.Inc

DCAD - Crystal Creek Ridge Replat, Blk. H, Lot 1A
Date of copy: 1/10/2024

0 190 38095 ft

0 50 10025 m

1 inch equals 188 feet

Dallas Central Appraisal District
2949 N Stemmons Freeway

Dallas, TX 75247-6195
(214) 631-1342

www.dallascad.org

This product is for INFORMATIONAL purposes only and may not have been prepared for or  be suitable for legal, engineering, or surveying 
purposes.  It does not represent an on-the-ground survey and represents  only the approximate relative location of property boundaries.

DCAD Tax Account: 200297000A01A0000



DCAD, Esri, HERE, Garmin, (c) OpenStreetMap contributors,

-
DCAD, NCTCOG, USGS, Esri.Inc

DCAD - 1300 W. Belt Line Road
Date of copy: 1/10/2024

0 190 38095 ft

0 50 10025 m

1 inch equals 188 feet

Dallas Central Appraisal District
2949 N Stemmons Freeway

Dallas, TX 75247-6195
(214) 631-1342

www.dallascad.org

This product is for INFORMATIONAL purposes only and may not have been prepared for or  be suitable for legal, engineering, or surveying 
purposes.  It does not represent an on-the-ground survey and represents  only the approximate relative location of property boundaries.

DCAD Tax Account: 200297000A01A0000

















































































EŌS FITNESS
DESOTO, TX



TIMELINE

• Contract for Big Box 

Development (BBD) to 

purchase the property 

agreed upon

• Due diligence begins

JUNE 7, 2021

• Zoom Call with P&Z to 

discuss EōS Fitness 

plans, parking, zoning, 

& more.

• Email from City of 

Desoto confirming that 

parking is sufficient

• BBD moves forward 

with purchase

OCTOBER 29, 2021

EoS Development

• EōS Fitness receives 

permit from the City of 

DeSoto for construction

OCTOBER 2022

• 11/16: EōS Fitness 

received temp 

certificate of 

occupancy 

• 12/13: EōS Fitness 

opens to the public

NOVEMBER – DECEMBER ‘23



EŌS FITNESS IMPACT

1300 W BELT LINE ROAD, DESOTO, TX

BEFORE

• Albertson’s closed in 2018 & the building sat vacant for 5 years

 

• More than $5mm has been invested into the redevelopment of the building
 

AFTER



EŌS FITNESS IMPACT

POSITIVE IMPACT ON THE COMMUNITY:

• Easy access to an affordable, high-

quality Health and Wellness option for 

the residents of Desoto

• Creation of jobs in the Desoto 

community for a diverse set of 

employment seekers

• EōS Fitness strives to be a good 

community partner! In the past, EōS 

Fitness gyms have been involved in 

local races, charities, fundraisers, silent 

auctions, retail partnerships, 

sponsorships, community events, 

& more! 



PARKING FEASIBILITY

EŌS FITNESS PARKING: 

• Parking Spots: 257

• Additional Cross Parking: 33

• Total Parking Available: 290

 

PARKING STUDY: 
Traffic Data provided by Placer.ai

• Grocery vs Gym Weekly Visits Nationwide:

• Albertson’s (AVG): 11,250

• Fitness Competitor (AVG): 8,961 

• Grocery vs Gym Weekly Visits in Desoto:

• Kroger I-35 & Pleasant Run (AVG): 14,128

• Tom Thumb N Hampton & Pleasant Run (AVG): 13,092

• Planet Fitness I-35 & Pleasant Run (AVG): 8,155


	Agenda
	AI_5576_June 28, 2023 Zoning Board of Adjustments Meeting
	       ATT_06.28.23 ZBOA Minutes
	AI_5563_Conduct Public Hearing and consider Variance Request - Oncor Lancaster Distribution Center, 1220 E. Pleasant Run Rd.
	       ATT_Applicant's Application and Written Narrative
	       ATT_DCAD Map
	       ATT_FEMA FIRMette Map
	       ATT_Oncor Reconstruction Site Plan - Approved by SUP
	       ATT_Oncor Storage Yard Expansion Construction Plan Cover Sheet
	       ATT_Oncor Storage Yard Expansion Demolition Plan Sheet C2.0
	       ATT_Oncor Storage Yard Expansion Paving Plan Sheet C3.0
	       ATT_Oncor Storage Yard Expansion Site Plan Sheet C3.1
	       ATT_Zoning Ordinance - Section 38
	       ATT_Code of Ordinances - Section 3.903 Parking Lots
	AI_5575_Conduct Public Hearing and consider Variance Request - EOS Fitness, 1300 W. Beltline Rd.
	       ATT_DCAD Map 1
	       ATT_DCAD Map 2
	       ATT_Emails between Mr. Cowan and ex-Planning staff
	       ATT_Zoning Ordinance - Section 38.6 (34) 
	       ATT_Zoning Ordinance - Appendix A-3 Definitions (Floor Area)
	       ATT_Applicant's Application
	       ATT_Applicant's Letter of Intent
	       ATT_Surveyor's Certified Land Title Survey Map
	       ATT_Parking Lot Layout Map and Site Data Summary Table
	       ATT_Photo 1
	       ATT_Photo 2
	       ATT_Photo 3
	       ATT_Photo 4
	       ATT_Photo 5
	       ATT_Photo 6
	       ATT_Photo 7
	       ATT_Photo 8
	       ATT_Photo 9
	       ATT_Photo 10
	       ATT_Photo 11
	       ATT_Photo 12
	       ATT_Photo 13
	       ATT_Photo 14
	       ATT_Photo 15
	       ATT_Photo 16
	       ATT_Photo 17
	       ATT_Photo 18
	       ATT_Photo 19
	       ATT_Photo 20
	       ATT_Photo 21
	       ATT_Photo 22
	       ATT_Photo 23
	       ATT_Photo 24
	       ATT_Applicant's PowerPoint Presentation

